IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-514

MCKENZIE CHECK ADVANCE OF FLORIDA, LLC, STEVE A. MCKENZIE, and BRENDA G. LAWSON,

Petitioners.

VS.

WENDY BETTS, DONNA REUTER, et al.,

Respondents.

L.T. Case Nos.: 4D08-493, 4D08-494

/

ON REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Virginia B. Townes Carrie Ann Wozniak Akerman Senterfitt Post Office Box 231 420 South Orange Ave., Ste. 1200

Orlando, Florida 32801 Phone: (407) 423-4000

Fax: (407) 843-6610

Jaime A. Bianchi David P. Draigh Sheldon Philp White & Case LLP

Southeast Financial Center

200 South Biscayne Blvd., Ste. 4900

INTRODUCTION

This case is in this Court on review of a certified question from the Fourth District Court of Appeal. That court affirmed the denial of Defendants' motion to compel individual arbitration of claims under Florida's Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act ("FDUTPA") and other Florida remedial statutes. The Fourth DCA held that the class action waiver in the parties' arbitration agreement violates Florida public policy when consumers are unable to secure competent representation to pursue individual small claims. Thus, according to the Fourth DCA, "[o]nly with the availability of class representation would consumers' rights in these payday loan transactions be vindicated." The Fourth DCA certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

WHEN ASSERTED IN A CLAIM INVOLVING A VIOLATION OF FDUTPA OR ANOTHER REMEDIAL STATUTE, DOES A CLASS ACTION WAIVER IN AN ARBITRATION AGREEMENT VIOLATE PUBLIC POLICY WHEN THE TRIAL COURT IS PERSUADED BY EVIDENCE THAT SUCH A WAIVER PREVENTS CONSUMERS FROM OBTAINING COMPETENT COUNSEL?

This question is now moot, however, and the Fourth DCA's opinion cannot stand, because in the interim the United States Supreme Court has decided <u>AT&T</u> Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 131 S. Ct. 1740 (2011). Concepcion makes clear that the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") *preempts* any state statute or public policy that conditions enforcement of an arbitration clause on the availability of a

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -1-

class action. As the Court held, "The overarching purpose of the FAA . . . is to ensure the enforcement of arbitration agreements according to their terms so as to facilitate streamlined proceedings. Requiring the availability of classwide arbitration interferes with fundamental attributes of arbitration and thus creates a scheme inconsistent with the FAA." Id. at 1748. Because the Fourth DCA's opinion *did* condition enforcement of the arbitration agreement at issue in these proceedings on Florida public policy and the availability of class procedures, this Court should remand the case to the Fourth DCA with instructions to vacate its opinion and reverse the order denying the motion to compel arbitration.

In the alternative, if this Court considers the certified question, it should answer "no." The agreement's bar on class representation in arbitration does not violate Florida public policy. As Florida courts have held, neither FDUTPA's text nor its legislative history suggests that the Legislature intended to confer a non-waivable right to class action procedures. To the contrary, as this Court has found, the Legislature determined that FDUTPA's fee-shifting provision—not a blanket right to a class action—provides adequate incentive to bring individual small-value FDUTPA claims.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Facts relevant to this appeal are outlined first, followed by the course of proceedings below.

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -2-

A. Facts Relevant to the Appeal

Plaintiff Tiffany Kelly, a self-described "borderline genius" whose IQ was measured at 129 when she was 8 years old, is "a very bright, articulate woman" [R5. 784; A.5-6; A.110]. Kelly first became a customer of McKenzie Check Advance of Florida, LLC ("MCA") in November 1999 when she contracted for a payday advance [R2. 321-24]. Kelly was not rushed or pressured during her transactions with MCA, and she understood MCA's disclosures [R2. 326]. No one discouraged her from reading the documents presented to her, but instead of reading the agreements, she chose "to get the cash and run" [R2. 324-25; R5. 835-36].

Kelly's contract with MCA includes a one-page binding arbitration agreement, which prominently states in all capital letters and bold type, in the section titled "WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL AND ARBITRATION AGREEMENT," that:

THE ARBITRATOR SHALL NOT CONDUCT **CLASS ARBITRATION**; THAT IS, ARBITRATOR SHALL NOT ALLOW YOU TO SERVE AS A REPRESENTATIVE, AS PARENS PATRIAE, AS A PRIVATE ATTORNEY GENERAL OR IN ANY **OTHER** REPRESENTATIVE **CAPACITY FOR OTHERS** IN THE ARBITRATION.

5. You acknowledge and agree that by entering into this Agreement:

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -3-

- (a) YOU ARE WAIVING YOUR RIGHT TO HAVE A TRIAL BY JURY TO RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE ALLEGED AGAINST US OR RELATED THIRD PARTIES;
- (b) YOU ARE WAIVING YOUR RIGHT TO HAVE A COURT, OTHER THAN A SMALL CLAIMS TRIBUNAL, RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE ALLEGED AGAINST US OR RELATED THIRD PARTIES; and
- (c) YOU ARE WAIVING YOUR RIGHT TO SERVE AS A REPRESENTATIVE, AS PARENS PATRIAE, AS **ATTORNEY** A **PRIVATE** GENERAL, OR IN **ANY OTHER** REPRESENTATIVE CAPACITY, OR TO PARTICIPATE AS A MEMBER OF A CLASS OF CLAIMANTS, IN ANY LAWSUIT **FILED** AGAINST US AND/OR **RELATED THIRD** PARTIES.

[A.1].

Kelly also initialed the agreement. In the space just above her initials appears the following, also in upper case and in bold type:

NOTICE: By initialing the space below you acknowledge that you have read, understand and agree to the "ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT," including the provisions on "WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL AND ARBITRATION AGREEMENT."

[A.1].

The arbitration provision grants Kelly several rights that make the arbitration process more flexible and less costly. For example, it gives Kelly her choice of arbitrators and requires MCA, upon request, to advance the costs of arbitration

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -4-

(other than Kelly's own attorney and witness fees) [Id.]. If Kelly prevails at arbitration, she has no obligation to reimburse MCA [Id.].

Significantly, the arbitration provision also preserves all the substantive rights and remedies that consumers such as Kelly may have under applicable statutes or law, including the right to recover reasonable attorney's fees and expenses [Id.]; [A.110-11]. Kelly also retains the right to seek relief in small claims court [Id.].

Over the next 16 months, Kelly entered into 21 similar transactions with MCA [A.111]. Other than the first two contracts, all others granted Kelly a one-day right of rescission, which she never exercised [Id.]. Each contract contained an arbitration clause and class action waiver [A.7]. The arbitration agreements are all governed by the FAA [Id.]; [A.111]. The parties agreed that if the class action waiver was found to be unenforceable, the arbitration clauses should be stricken [R5. 896].

Kelly's Claims Demand Substantial Damages.

Kelly borrowed a total of \$6,950 in principal and paid MCA a total of \$860 in fees or interest [A.5-7]. Kelly's individual claims total \$24,200 *before* attorney's fees and interest [Id.].

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -5-

Attorneys Have Represented Consumers in Hundreds of Individual Small Value Suits.

Between January 2005 and July 2007 alone, more than 500 complaints were filed in small claims and county courts in Orange County, Florida by attorneyrepresented plaintiffs, all claiming damages less than \$15,000 [A.19-68]. complaints assert claims under a variety of consumer protection statutes, including the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (FDUTPA) (section 501, Florida Statutes), Florida's Consumer Collection Practices Act (section 559, Florida Statutes), and Florida's Civil Remedies for Criminal Practices Act (section 772, Florida Statutes) [Id.]. During this same time frame, more than two hundred complaints were filed in Palm Beach County by attorney-represented plaintiffs, all claiming damages less than \$15,000 [A.69-99]. These complaints also assert claims under various consumer statutes [Id.]. Attorney-represented plaintiffs have filed similar small-dollar claims complaints in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida involving claims for truth-in-lending, fair debt collections violations, and fair credit reporting violations [A.101-03].

Between 2006 and 2011, attorney-represented consumers have also filed more than 1,300 small value cases with the American Arbitration Association. See American Arbitration Association, Consumer Statistics: Provider Organization Report, http://www.adr.org/sp.asp?id=22042 (last visited June 14, 2011). Many of these cases involve claims against cash advance businesses. Id. More than 250

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -6-

cases were resolved with the consumer bearing none of the arbitrator's fees and costs. Id.

B. Course of Proceedings

Plaintiffs Donna Reuter and Wendy Betts filed this putative class action in 2001, asserting state law claims under the Florida Lending Practices Statute (Chapter 687, Florida Statutes), the Florida Consumer Finance Act (Chapter 516, Florida Statutes), the Florida Civil Remedies for Criminal Practices Act (Chapter 772, Florida Statutes ("FCRCPA")), and FDUTPA.

All of these statutes contain fee-shifting provisions. Chapter 687 authorizes an award of principal plus two times the interest paid and reasonable attorney's fees and costs. § 687.147, Fla. Stat. FDUTPA authorizes the award of actual damages, reasonable attorney's fees and costs, and injunctive relief. § 501.2105, Fla. Stat. FCRCPA authorizes treble actual damages and reasonable attorney's fees. § 772.104, Fla. Stat. These provisions do not require that the attorney's fee award be proportional to the damages recovered.

In April 2001, Defendants moved to compel arbitration of Reuter's claim under the arbitration agreement she signed for each of her transactions [R.1 94-96]. In January 2002, the trial court granted Defendants' Motion to Stay and Compel

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -7-

¹ As the Fourth DCA noted, Chapter 516, which contains no private right of action, is not at issue here. McKenzie v. Betts, 55 So. 3d 615, 617 n.2 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011) [A.122].

Arbitration [A.104-06]. In doing so, the court rejected Reuter's public policy challenge to the class action waiver in the Arbitration Agreement [Id.]. The Fourth DCA affirmed this ruling *per curiam*. Reuter v. McKenzie Check Ad. of Fla., 825 So. 2d 1070 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) [A.107-08].

In 2007, Plaintiffs amended their complaint to add Tiffany Kelly as a plaintiff [R1. 104-23]. Defendants again moved to compel arbitration based on arbitration agreements that Kelly signed, which were either identical or virtually identical to those Reuter signed [R2. 203-13]. After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court ruled that Kelly's arbitration agreement was not unconscionable under Florida law because the arbitration clause was not procedurally unconscionable [A.114-15]. The trial court observed that "[n]ot all contracts of adhesion are procedurally unconscionable," and found that "Kelly had the opportunity to read the arbitration clauses; MCA did nothing to lead her to believe that she should not; and she had the intellect to understand them" [Id.]. And because the trial court recognized that "[a] clause is void as unconscionable only if it is both procedurally and substantively unconscionable," it held that the arbitration clauses were not unconscionable [Id.]. But the trial court refused to enforce the arbitration agreement because it found that the class action waiver violated Florida's public policy [A.115-18].

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -8-

Defendants appealed to the Fourth DCA, which affirmed. Betts, 55 So. 3d at 629 [A.134]. The Fourth DCA concluded that "[b]ecause payday loan cases are complex, time-consuming, involve small amounts, and do not guarantee adequate awards of attorney's fees, individual plaintiffs cannot obtain competent counsel without the procedural device of a class action" and that "[t]he class action waiver prevents consumers from vindicating their statutory rights, and thus violates public policy." Id. Relying on the California Supreme Court's decision in Discover Bank v. Superior Court, 113 P.3d 1100 (Cal. 2005), the court concluded that public policy is a contract law defense that applies to all contracts and thus was not preempted by the FAA. Betts, 55 So. 3d at 624 [A.129].

This Court has jurisdiction under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). Defendants have timely invoked it.

C. <u>Standard of Review</u>

This appeal presents a pure question of law certified by the Fourth DCA: Whether an arbitration clause that provides for bilateral arbitration but prohibits class arbitration is enforceable. Such issues are reviewed *de novo*. D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003) (reviewing certified question of great public importance *de novo*).

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -9-

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth DCA's holding that the arbitration provision violates Florida public policy because it does not provide for class proceedings is flatly precluded by AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 131 S. Ct. 1740 (2011). Indeed, in Concepcion, the United States Supreme Court made clear that the FAA preempts state rules conditioning an arbitration agreement's enforceability on the availability of class procedures. Id. at 1748. The Court held that a state law barring enforcement of an arbitration agreement, on grounds that it fails to make class proceedings available, interferes with the FAA's overriding purpose of enforcing arbitration agreements according to their terms. Id. Specifically, the Court held that the Discover Bank decision—relied on here by the Fourth DCA below—was preempted by the FAA. Id. at 1750. The Court expressly rejected the argument which the Fourth DCA also adopted below—that class proceedings are necessary to prosecute small-dollar claims. Id. at 1753.

Even if <u>Concepcion</u> did not control, this Court should still quash the Fourth DCA's decision. Bilateral arbitration of FDUTPA disputes does not violate Florida public policy or defeat FDUTPA's purposes. No public policy creates a non-waivable right to bring a class action under FDUTPA. To the contrary, by authorizing fee-shifting provisions in FDUTPA, the Legislature has determined that an award of reasonable attorney's fees and costs is the appropriate mechanism

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -10-

for encouraging private actions to enforce FDUTPA's consumer protection provisions. Because class proceedings are not necessary to vindicate small value claims where an arbitration agreement preserves the consumer's substantive right to recover attorney's fees and costs, class waivers do not impede consumers from obtaining representation on an individual basis, nor do they function as exculpatory clauses leaving consumers without a realistic remedy.

Moreover, the Fourth DCA's "enforceability rule" would allow a trial court to substitute its own policy preferences for the Legislature's whenever a plaintiff persuaded it that, despite FDUTPA's fee-shifting provisions, a plaintiff would not be able to attract competent counsel for a particular claim. The Fourth DCA's analysis would require a case-by-case determination of whether a particular class action waiver violates Florida's public policy. Such a process is unworkable in practice and would lead to inconsistent results. Further, the time, effort, and expense required for a trial court to make such subjective determinations—discovery, briefing, evidentiary hearings, etc.—would deprive the parties of the "lower costs, greater efficiency and speed" of bilateral arbitration. Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. AnimalFeeds Int'l Corp., 130 S. Ct. 1758, 1775 (2010).

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -11-

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT PREEMPTS STATE LAWS INVALIDATING ARBITRATION AGREEMENTS THAT REQUIRE ARBITRATION ON AN INDIVIDUAL BASIS.

The FAA, which governs Kelly's arbitration agreement with MCA (A.111), embodies "a liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements, notwithstanding any state substantive or procedural policies to the contrary." Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 24 (1983). The FAA also embodies the "fundamental principle that arbitration is a matter of contract." Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson, 130 S. Ct. 2772, 2776 (2010). "By enacting [Section] 2 [of the FAA] . . . Congress precluded States from singling out arbitration provisions." Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto, 517 U.S. 681, 687 (1996). Therefore, courts must place arbitration agreements on an equal footing with other contracts and enforce them according to their terms. Stolt-Nielsen, 130 S. Ct. at 1773 ("[T]he central or primary purpose of the FAA is to ensure that private agreements to arbitrate are enforced according to their terms."). Under the FAA, "parties are generally free to structure their arbitration agreements as they see fit," including "specify[ing] with whom they choose to arbitrate their disputes." Id. at 1774 (emphasis in original).

Consistent with these principles, in <u>Concepcion</u>, 131 S. Ct. 1740, the United States Supreme Court held this term that the FAA preempts state laws that

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -12-

predicate the enforcement of arbitration provisions on the availability of class action procedures. The Fourth DCA's holding that Florida law prohibits a class action waiver in an arbitration agreement where the plaintiff's claim is for a violation of FDUTPA or another remedial statute—like the similar California Supreme Court decision in <u>Discover Bank</u> that <u>Concepcion</u> abrogated—is preempted by the FAA.

In <u>Concepcion</u>, the Supreme Court specifically rejected the argument that section 2 of the FAA, which preserves certain generally applicable contract defenses, also preserves a state's refusal to enforce class waivers in consumer contracts based on public policy. <u>Concepcion</u>, 131 S. Ct. at 1748. The Court recognized that "nothing in [section 2] suggests an intent to preserve state-law rules that stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the FAA's objectives." <u>Id.</u> "The overarching purpose of the FAA, evident in the text of §§ 2, 3, and 4, is to ensure the enforcement of arbitration agreements according to their terms so as to facilitate streamlined proceedings. Requiring the availability of classwide arbitration interferes with fundamental attributes of arbitration and thus creates a scheme inconsistent with the FAA." <u>Id.</u>

Thus, <u>Concepcion</u> makes clear that the FAA preempts a Florida public policy conditioning the enforcement of an arbitration agreement on the availability of classwide procedures; such a policy would interfere with the FAA's

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -13-

fundamental purpose, which reflects the federal policy favoring arbitration. Indeed, "class arbitration sacrifices the principal advantage of arbitration—its informality—and makes the process slower, more costly, and more likely to generate a procedural morass." <u>Id.</u> at 1751 (noting that class arbitration *requires* procedural formality to satisfy due process concerns and to bind absent class members to the arbitration results). And class arbitration greatly increases risks to defendants, who have no rights to "appellate" review, even when the damages allegedly owed to thousands of claimants are aggregated to millions of dollars. <u>Id.</u> at 1752.

The Supreme Court in <u>Concepcion</u> also considered and rejected the argument that classwide proceedings are necessary to vindicate small claims and that class action waivers effectively serve as exculpatory clauses, leaving consumers without an effective remedy. <u>Id.</u> at 1753. Rather, the Supreme Court held that whether a class waiver frustrates a state public policy is irrelevant because "States cannot require a procedure that is inconsistent with the FAA, even if it is desirable for unrelated reasons." Id.

In addition, because the Fourth DCA's enforceability rule applies *only* to arbitration agreements in consumer contracts under FDUTPA or other remedial statutes, and *only* where the trial court is persuaded by evidence that a class action waiver prevents consumers from obtaining competent counsel, the rule *does not*

MIAMI 918897 (2K) -14-

apply to contracts generally and such a rule cannot invalidate MCA's bilateral arbitration agreement. See Concepcion, 131 S. Ct. at 1747 (a court may not rely on the uniqueness of an agreement to arbitrate as the basis for a state-law holding that enforcement would be unconscionable or would violate public policy because this would enable the court to effect what the state legislature cannot). Additionally, such a rule would contravene the FAA's command that arbitration agreements be placed on the same footing as other contracts. Id. at 1745.

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