IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-514

MCKENZIE CHECK ADVANCE OF FLORIDA, LLC; STEVE A. MCKENZIE, and BRENDA G. LAWSON,

L.T. Case Nos.: 4D08-493,

4D08-494

Petitioners,

WENDY BETTS, DONNA REUTER, et al.,

Respondents.	
	/

ON REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Theodore J. Leopold Diana L. Martin LEOPOLD~KUVIN, P.A 2925 PGA Blvd., Ste. 200 Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410

Phone: 561.515.1400 Fax: 561.515.1401

tleopold@leopoldkuvin.com dmartin@leopoldkuvin.com F. Paul Bland, Jr. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice)
PUBLIC JUSTICE
1825 K Street, NW, Ste. 200
Washington D.C. 20006

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal involves the enforceability of a class action ban that MCA

properly held that enforcement of MCA's class action ban in this case would effectively exculpate the company from liability to Plaintiffs Wendy Betts, Donna Reuter, and Tiffany Kelly ("Plaintiffs") for violating Florida's consumer protection statutes. *McKenzie v. Betts*, 55 So. 3d 615 (Fla. 4th DCA), *review granted*, 60 So. 3d 1055 (Fla. 2011).

MCA now offers three reasons why it believes the court below erred. First, MCA argues that under *AT&T Mobility, LLC v. Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct. 1740 (2011), the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") now mandates enforcement of its class action ban (if not all class action bans) in *every* case, no matter how the state law at issue analyzes the enforceability of such terms; no matter what kinds of claims are raised; and no matter what factual findings are made by the court. MCA Br. 1-2. That argument cannot be squared with U.S. Supreme Court precedent.

In no less than five separate decisions, the U.S. Supreme Court has held that arbitration clauses are to be enforced *only* where they allow individuals to effectively vindicate their statutory rights in the arbitral forum. Florida law—and the decision below—are entirely consistent with these decisions, which were not in any way called in to question by *Concepcion*. Moreover, *Concepcion* does not warrant reversal here because the features of California law that *Concepcion* found repugnant to the FAA are nowhere to be seen in Florida law, and the facts of

Concepcion—which supported the Court's findings that the plaintiffs there would be able to effectively vindicate their rights in individual arbitration—are distinguishable from this case, where Plaintiffs have conclusively demonstrated the opposite. Finally, Concepcion has no application here because Concepcion—unlike this case—arose in federal court, and is limited in its application to federal cases. Accordingly, Concepcion does not warrant reversal of the decision below.

Second, MCA argues that the court below erred in concluding that its class action ban violated Florida public policy. This argument fails. It is well-established in Florida that contract provisions that exculpate a company from violating the State's remedial statutes are void as contrary to public policy. *E.g.*, *Jersey Palm-Gross, Inc. v. Paper*, 658 So. 2d 531, 535 (Fla. 1995). The extensive evidentiary record in this case demonstrates that enforcing MCA's class action ban here *would*, as a matter of fact, enable MCA to escape liability for violating Plaintiffs' statutory rights. Moreover, the decision below should be affirmed on the additional ground that MCA's class action ban is unconscionable under Florida law because it was imposed on Plaintiffs in a procedurally unconscionable manner, and its exculpatory effects render the ban substantively unconscionable.

Third, MCA's *amicus*, the U.S. Chamber of Commerce ("Chamber"), asserts that the decision below should be reversed because, according to the Chamber, class actions are unnecessary or undesirable here. This argument is meritless, has

no basis for support under Florida law, and is disproven by the compelling evidentiary record in this case.

For all of these reasons, the decision below should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision below holding unenforceable the class action ban embedded in MCA's arbitration clause was based on factual findings and conclusions of law. Accordingly, this case presents a mixed question of law and fact. The standard of review applicable to the lower court's findings of fact is whether those findings "are supported by competent, substantial evidence." *Alterra Healthcare Corp. v. Bryant*, 937 So. 2d 263, 266 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006). The standard of review applicable to the court's conclusions of law is *de novo*. *Gainesville Health Care Ctr. v. Weston*, 857 So.2d 278, 283 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003).

II. CONCEPCION DOES NOT REQUIRE ENFORCEMENT OF A CLASS ACTION BAN WHEN, AS HERE, AN EXTENSIVE FACTUAL RECORD DEMONSTRATES THAT ENFORCING THE BAN WOULD PREVENT PLAINTIFFS FROM VINDICATING THEIR STATUTORY RIGHTS.

In *Concepcion*, the Supreme Court held 5-4 that the FAA preempts California's "*Discover Bank* rule." 131 S. Ct. at 1746. According to *Concepcion*, the *Discover Bank* rule would mechanically invalidate a class action ban in an arbitration clause—and force the parties into non-consensual class arbitration—whenever three common factors are present: (1) a consumer contract of adhesion;

(2) predictably small damages; and (3) an allegation that the defendant engaged in a scheme to cheat consumers. *Id.* The Court reasoned that the rule would effectively prohibit arbitration of a broad category of claims and would impose procedures—namely, classwide arbitration—against the parties' consent, which would be inconsistent with and preempted by the FAA. *Id.*

MCA contends that *Concepcion* applies with equal force to the decision below and renders the application of general principles of Florida contract law in this case preempted by the FAA. MCA is wrong. *Concepcion* does not hold that *every* class action ban in an arbitration clause is *always* enforceable in *every* case.

First, *Concepcion* does not disturb longstanding U.S. Supreme Court precedent—applicable to federal and state-law claims alike—that statutory claims are arbitrable *only* if "the prospective litigant effectively may vindicate its statutory cause of action in the arbitral forum." *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 473 U.S. 614, 628, 637 (1985). The only way to harmonize *Concepcion* with the rule of law set forth in *Mitsubishi* and its progeny is to hold that a class action ban—like any other term in an arbitration clause—cannot be enforced if it would prevent parties from vindicating their statutory rights.

Second, Florida public policy and unconscionability challenges to the enforceability of class action bans are entirely consistent with the *Mitsubishi* line of cases, and are therefore undisturbed by *Concepcion*. For a class action ban to be

held unenforceable under either of these defenses, this Court should hold that Florida law requires plaintiffs to prove that the ban would, in fact, effectively prevent them from vindicating their statutory rights. This limitation was not present in the preempted *Discover Bank* rule, which is a crucial difference between this case and *Concepcion*.

Finally, *Concepcion* has no application here because *Concepcion*—unlike this case—arose in federal court, and is therefore limited in its application to federal cases. Thus, *Concepcion* does not warrant reversal of the decision below.

A. Concepcion does not disturb the rule that, under the FAA, parties must be able to effectively vindicate their rights in arbitration.

The U.S. Supreme Court has long held that statutory claims are arbitrable "so long as the prospective litigant effectively may vindicate its statutory cause of action in the arbitral forum"—and that "[b]y agreeing to arbitrate a statutory claim, a party does not forgo the substantive rights afforded by the statute; it only submits to their resolution in an arbitral, rather than a judicial, forum." *Mitsubishi Motors*, 473 U.S. at 628, 637; *quoted in Gilmer v. Interstate/Johnson Lane Corp.*, 500 U.S. 20, 26 (1991); *see also EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc.*, 534 U.S. 279, 295 n.10 (2002) (statutory claims may be arbitrated as long as a party can vindicate her substantive rights) (citation omitted); *Green Tree Fin. Corp.-Alabama v. Randolph*, 531 U.S. 79, 90 (2000) ("[C]laims arising under a statute designed to further important

social policies may be arbitrated because 'so long as the prospective litigant effectively may vindicate [his or her] statutory cause of action in the arbitral forum'") (citation omitted); *Vimar Seguros y Reaseguros SA v. M/V Sky Reefer*, 515 U.S. 528, 540 (1995) (holding that, if an arbitration provision were to operate "as a prospective waiver of a party's right to pursue statutory remedies . . . , we would have little hesitation in condemning the agreement as against public policy"). ⁵

In order for the FAA to require enforcement of class action bans even where enforcement would prevent the parties from effectively vindicating their statutory rights, the Supreme Court would have had to overrule this prior precedent. That did not happen. Indeed, there is no question that the *Mitsubishi* line of cases remains good law after *Concepcion*, as both *Mitsubishi* and *Gilmer* are cited as authority in the majority decision. *Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct. at 1748 (citing

⁵ As explained below, Florida courts have faithfully adhered to the principles of law articulated in the *Mitsubishi* line of cases when analyzing the enforceability of terms in arbitration clauses. *E.g., Alterra Healthcare Corp. v. Estate of Linton ex rel. Graham*, 953 So. 2d 574, 578 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007) ("An arbitration clause is . . unenforceable if its provisions deprive the plaintiff of the ability to obtain meaningful relief for alleged statutory violations."); *Alterra Healthcare Corp. v. Bryant*, 937 So. 2d at 266 ("Parties may agree to arbitrate statutory claims, provided the arbitration offers an effective way for vindicating the claimant's statutory rights."). The decision below plainly applied these principles when it held that MCA's "class action waiver in this case, which prohibits both class arbitration and litigation, prevents individual plaintiffs from vindicating their statutory rights." *McKenzie*, 55 So. 3d at 628.

Mitsubishi Motors); id. at 1749 n.5 (citing Gilmer). Consequently, the principle that parties must be able to effectively vindicate their statutory rights in arbitration was not overruled by Concepcion and remains intact for purposes of this Court's analysis here. See Agostini v. Felton, 521 U.S. 203, 237 (1997) (lower courts may not "conclude our more recent cases have, by implication, overruled an earlier precedent" and must "leav[e] to this Court the prerogative of overruling its own decisions"); Rodriquez de Quijas v. Shearson/American Exp., Inc., 490 U.S. 477, 484 (1989) ("If a precedent of this Court has direct application in a case, yet appears to rest on reasons rejected in some other line of decisions, [a lower court] should follow the case which directly controls, leaving to this Court the prerogative of overruling its own decisions.").6

_

MCA notes that, shortly after *Concepcion* was decided, the Supreme Court granted *certiorari*, vacated, and remanded *Sonic Auto v. Watts*, 2011 WL 1631040 (S.C. May 2, 2011), which held a class action ban unenforceable on public policy grounds. MCA Br. 16. This Court should attach no significance to these types of "GVR" orders because such orders are not intended to overrule prior precedent. *E.g., Tyler v. Cain*, 533 U.S. 656, 666 n.6 (2001) (GVR order is not a "final determination on the merits"). Rather, the Supreme Court uses GVR orders when it issues a new opinion that it believes might have affected a lower court decision if the opinion had been available prior to the lower court's decision. *See Henry v. City of Rock Hill*, 376 U.S. 776, 776 (1964) (GVR order appropriate when it is "not certain that the case [is] free from all obstacles to reversal on an intervening precedent"). In contrast, when the Court wishes to overrule a lower court opinion without full briefing and oral argument, it issues a "summary reversal," not a GVR order. *E.g., Felkner v. Jackson*, 131 S. Ct. 1305 (2011). Consistent with the fact that GVR orders do not overrule prior decisions, courts frequently reinstate their

Moreover, there is no doubt that the principles promulgated in *Mitsubishi* and its progeny apply equally to cases involving state statutory rights. In *Booker v*. *Robert Half Int'l, Inc.*, 413 F.3d 77 (D.C. Cir. 2005), then-Judge Roberts, in a case involving state law, authored an opinion for the D.C. Circuit striking down a provision in an arbitration clause that stripped a party of state statutory rights. The opinion cited *Randolph* in holding that a party may "resist[] arbitration on the ground that the terms of any arbitration agreement interfere with the effective vindication of statutory rights." *Id.* at 82.

In short, *Concepcion* stands for the proposition that only those categorical rules of state law that permit uniform invalidation of arbitration clauses pose a conflict with the FAA: "When state law prohibits outright the arbitration of *a particular type of claim*, the analysis is straightforward: The conflicting rule is displaced by the FAA." *Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct. at 1747 (emphasis added). This conflict is no less evident when a state law accomplishes the same goal—prohibiting arbitration of a particular type of claim—indirectly, and any such law would also be preempted. *Id*.

A principle of state law that holds an arbitration clause unenforceable only when the particular facts and circumstances of the case prove that the term

prior judgments after these orders. *E.g., In re Am. Express Merchants' Litig.*, 634 F.3d 187, 193–94 (2011).

prevents the parties from vindicating their statutory rights is entirely consistent with the FAA. See Green Tree Fin. Corp, 531 U.S. at 92 ("[A] party seek[ing] to invalidate an arbitration agreement . . . bears the burden of showing" that the clause would prevent her from vindicating her statutory rights.); 14 Penn Plaza LLC v. Pyett, 129 S. Ct. 1456, 1462-63 (2009) (declining to rule on enforceability of arbitration clause when issue of whether plaintiffs could vindicate their rights had not been fully briefed below, and the Court would not "invalidate arbitration agreements on the basis of speculation"). Such a state-law rule clearly would not "stand[] as an obstacle to the accomplishment" of any Congressional purpose. Concepcion, 131 S. Ct. at 1753.

It should be noted that, after MCA filed its Initial Brief, the Eleventh Circuit issued a decision addressing *Concepcion* in *Cruz v. Cingular Wireless, LLC*, 2011 WL 3505016 (11th Cir. Aug. 11, 2011). MCA will likely attempt to rely on *Cruz*—which involved the enforceability under Florida law of the *identical* class action ban at issue in *Concepcion*—to argue that the decision below should be reversed. However, *Cruz* does not control the outcome of this case.

First, to the extent that *Cruz* can be read as interpreting *Concepcion* as overturning the *Mitsubishi* line of cases, such a conclusion is plainly wrong and should be rejected by this Court. "Although state courts are bound by the decisions of the United States Supreme Court construing federal law, [citation], there is no

similar obligation with respect to decisions of the lower federal courts." *Abela v. Gen. Motors Corp.*, 469 Mich. 603, 677 N.W.2d 325, 327 (2004), *cert. denied*, 543 U.S. 870, 125 S.Ct. 98, 160 L.Ed.2d 117 (2004); *quoted in Carnival Corp. v. Carlisle*, 953 So. 2d 461, 465 (Fla. 2007); *Pignato v. Great Western Bank*, 664 So. 2d 1011, 1015 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) ("Only decisions of the United States Supreme Court [not federal courts of appeal] are binding on the state courts of Florida.").

Second, in this case—unlike in *Cruz*, which involved claims alleging improperly-added mobile phone charges—no one at all (not even the named Plaintiffs) would be able to vindicate their rights absent a class action because of the complexity of the law involved to prove that MCA's lending practices are illegal. *See* Statement of Facts, *supra*; Part II, *infra*. The plaintiffs in *Cruz*, by contrast, would have likely realized they had been wronged by the defendant's conduct, and the claims involved were significantly more straightforward. Moreover, *Cruz* leaves open the possibility that its outcome might have been different had the arbitration clause at issue there not contained all of the "proconsumer' features" that *Concepcion* held would enable consumers to vindicate their rights in individual arbitration. 2011 WL 3505016, at *3 n.9.⁷ Accordingly, *Cruz*'s analysis of *Concepcion* does not warrant reversal of the decision below.

_

⁷ As explained below, MCA's clause contains none of these features.

B. Concepcion does not require reversal of the decision below because Florida law—unlike the Discover Bank rule—invalidates class action bans only if the particular facts of a case demonstrate that the parties cannot effectively vindicate their statutory rights on an individual basis.

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